
 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 19, 2016  10:00 A.M. 

CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
 

PRESENT:  Jessica Hawkins, Chairman; Terry Torres, Vice Chairman;  Members:  Garry Rooney and Mike 
Williams  Also Present:  Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director; Monte Falls, Public Works 
Director and Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 
Unexcused Absence:  Scott Chisholm 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at 10:00 A.M. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A) August 15, 2016 
 
Mr. Williams made a motion to approve the August 15, 2016 minutes.  Mr. Rooney seconded the motion 
and it passed unanimously. 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Williams added to the agenda information on signs.  He passed out a proposal from Mr. Randy 
Singleton/ Singleton Studios (please see attached).  His proposal for one (1) sign would be $1,580.00 and 
the total for seven (7) signs would amount to $11,060.00.  He (Mr. Williams) said this is much cheaper 
than the original quote they were given.  The signs will be a three (3) sided steel display with keyed 
lockable hinges.  They will be sandblasted and coated with a dark bronze with light antique copper 
metallic.  The only thing that Mr. Singleton is requesting is that his name and logo be at the bottom of 
the frame.  Mr. Williams invited the Committee members to go on to Mr. Singleton’s website to observe 
the kind of work that he does.  
 
Mrs. Hawkins recalled that Mr. Chisholm came up with the locations of where the signs would be 
located and how many were needed. 
 
Mr. Rooney felt that they would probably get some of the local businesses to pay for the signs since the 
cost is much cheaper than they thought it was going to be.  
 
Mrs. Hawkins said that they would need to try and figure out how to go after sponsors.  The Committee 
agreed to invite the Finance Director to their next meeting to go over the procedures for accepting 
money.   
 
5. OLD BUSINESS 
 

Page 1  EDZC  9/19/16 
 



 
 

A) Restriping Project – Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director 
 
Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, reported that in 2012 the City had a joint project through the 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) to have a consultant look at State Road 60 (Twin Pairs) 
through the downtown area where there are traffic issues.  The report showed the need to have one (1) 
lane eliminated from both sides of the Twin Pairs.  Staff was instructed by the City Council to move 
forward with an application to the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) requesting this.  He is in 
the process of working on those documents now and is getting ready to submit them.  The next step 
would be to look at when the most advantageous time would be to have this done.  He feels that it 
should be when the roads are scheduled to be resurfaced.  The whole project will cost close to one 
million dollars.  However, if they incorporate this request with the resurfacing project being done by 
FDOT then the City’s cost would only be $400,000, as opposed to $800,000.  He has asked FDOT when 
they expected this work to be done and has been told between five (5) and seven (7) years.  He keeps 
watching for the project to come up on the MPO level, but has not seen it yet.  Once it is scheduled he 
will let everyone know.  He expressed that the $400,000 for this project has not been budgeted yet.  He 
said once they know for sure that the project is going to take place then they will budget for it.  He 
reiterated this would be for elimination of one (1) lane going eastbound and one (1) lane going 
westbound.  It would be from the railroad crossing to 20th Avenue.   An aerial of this area was shown to 
the Commission members. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins noted that when looking through the MPO Comprehensive Plan that it looked like the 
resurfacing project was a long range planning project many years down the road. 
 
Mr. Falls explained what she probably was looking at was a maintenance project in the Comprehensive 
Plan, which is different from a repaving project.   
 
Mr. Torres asked if it would be possible to have parking lanes along US Highway 1 up to the railroad 
tracks.  Mr. Falls explained if a study was done on that it would cost around $100,000. 
 
Mr. Falls said that the present study shows that the evacuation route will be fine and the growth rate 
would accommodate the elimination of one lane. 
 
Mr. Torres went back to having a new study done and asked if the MPO would participate with them in 
doing this.  He said they would be looking at getting that whole section done.  He said there is a great 
need for parking between US Highway 1 and the railroad tracks.  He said there is no way to add 
additional parking spaces to the properties that are there now and adding on street parking would be a 
great benefit to the businesses in that district. 
 
Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, commented that he is looking at ways to allow 
mixed-use properties in this area.  He said the way that their Ordinance is written now makes it difficult.   
 
Mr. Torres asked what it would take to get moving on this study. 
 
Mr. Falls said that this Committee would need to make a recommendation to the City Council to see if 
they agree that a study needs to be done.  If Council agrees, then they will see if they could get another 
study funded through the MPO like the last one was.   
 

Page 2  EDZC  9/19/16 
 



 
 

Mr. McGarry expressed that the MPO only has so much money available.  He didn’t know what kind of 
support they would receive from the MPO. 
 
Mr. Torres made a motion that this Committee recommends to City Council and to the Public Works 
Department to proceed with a study on the section of State Road 60 between US Highway 1 and the 
railroad tracks to determine whether or not it is feasible to do a lane reduction in this area as well.  Mr. 
Williams seconded the motion.  
 
Mr. Falls suggested that the motion be sent only to the City Council.  Mr. Torres was fine with that. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins had some concerns that there would be a bottleneck at the tracks with the new brewery 
going in.  She said that might create some issues. 
 
Mr. Rooney brought up speed limit reduction.  He asked since restriping is not feasible at this moment, 
what can they do to have the speed reduced in this area. 
 
Mr. Falls said they needed to request that a speed study be done from FDOT.  He said FDOT will come 
out and see what the speed of the road is now, how it is being traveled today and they will make their 
recommendations based on what they find.  He will request that they do this.  The Commission agreed 
that FDOT should look at the area between US Highway 1 to 20th Avenue. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins brought up the timing for pedestrian crosswalks.  She asked Mr. Chris Mora, Indian River 
County Engineer, if the timing could be changed allowing more time for someone walking across the 
street, but he was not real responsive. 
 
Mr. Falls said that he would contact the person that has taken Mr. Mora’s place at the County and 
request that additional time be given at the crosswalk intersection.  He said if they still do not get a 
positive response then they could take it to the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). 
 
Mrs. Hawkins commented that only an addition of three (3) to five (5) seconds would be needed.  She 
brought up the crosswalk at Miracle Mile and said the timing there was fine. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
B) Comprehensive Plan – Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director 
 
Mr. McGarry reported that he has been working on updating the Comprehensive Plan and one (1) of the 
major areas that he is focusing on is the land use element and the downtown area.  He said that this 
Committee will be the focal point for redevelopment in this district.  An annual update of the Economic 
Development plan will be a part of the Comprehensive Plan.  The Committee will also be working with 
other organizations, such as the Cultural Arts Village and Main Street Vero Beach in coordinating these 
things.  He explained the Comprehensive Plan is required by the State of Florida and oversees everything 
when it comes to land development regulations.  He asked the Clerk to send an updated section of this 
part of the Comprehensive Plan to the Committee members.  He said if they have any suggestions or 
questions to please give him a call.  His goal is to get the Comprehensive Plan sent to the State by the 
end of this year.  
 
C) Update on the Metropolitan Planning Organization meeting – Mrs. Jessica Hawkins, Chair 

Page 3  EDZC  9/19/16 
 



 
 

 
This item was discussed earlier in the meeting. 
 
Mrs. Hawkins asked Mrs. Jones to go over the new lighting that they are looking at for downtown. 
 
Mrs. Elaine Jones, Executive Director for Main Street, explained that Main Street is working with the 
Charter School to put LED lighting in some of the trees downtown. She said that the lighting would be 
professionally installed and removed three (3) months out of the year for maintenance.  
 
Mrs. Suzy Feeney stated that she had a sample of the light that is going to be used in her car and would 
go and get it so that the Committee can see for themselves how it works.  
 
Mr. Falls added that this project is being done along with the City.  The City has some money that they 
set aside for Christmas lighting and this year the lighting downtown will be different from what it has 
been in the past at the request of Main Street.  
 
Mrs. Jones said that the Charter School students will be putting lights on the light poles downtown.  So 
there will be additional lighting downtown other than just the LED lighting that will be in some of the 
trees. 
 
Mr. Torres complimented Mrs. Jones on what a fine job she has done since she took the position as the 
Executive Director of Main Street. 
 
Mrs. Jones reported on the new trolley that will be used to transport people visiting downtown for 
different events, such as the Art Stroll, etc.  
 
7. NEXT MEETING DATE 
 
The next meeting date for the Economic Development Zone Committee is scheduled for October 17, 
2016. 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s meeting adjourned at 10:44 a.m. 
 
/tv 
 
 
 

Page 4  EDZC  9/19/16 
 


	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ZONE COMMITTEE MINUTES
	MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 19, 2016  10:00 A.M.
	CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA
	PRESENT:  Jessica Hawkins, Chairman; Terry Torres, Vice Chairman;  Members:  Garry Rooney and Mike Williams  Also Present:  Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director; Monte Falls, Public Works Director and Tammy Vock, City Clerk
	Unexcused Absence:  Scott Chisholm
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	The Chairman called the meeting to order at 10:00 A.M.
	2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A) August 15, 2016
	Mr. Williams made a motion to approve the August 15, 2016 minutes.  Mr. Rooney seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	None
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	Mr. Williams added to the agenda information on signs.  He passed out a proposal from Mr. Randy Singleton/ Singleton Studios (please see attached).  His proposal for one (1) sign would be $1,580.00 and the total for seven (7) signs would amount to $11,060.00.  He (Mr. Williams) said this is much cheaper than the original quote they were given.  The signs will be a three (3) sided steel display with keyed lockable hinges.  They will be sandblasted and coated with a dark bronze with light antique copper metallic.  The only thing that Mr. Singleton is requesting is that his name and logo be at the bottom of the frame.  Mr. Williams invited the Committee members to go on to Mr. Singleton’s website to observe the kind of work that he does. 
	Mrs. Hawkins recalled that Mr. Chisholm came up with the locations of where the signs would be located and how many were needed.
	Mr. Rooney felt that they would probably get some of the local businesses to pay for the signs since the cost is much cheaper than they thought it was going to be. 
	Mrs. Hawkins said that they would need to try and figure out how to go after sponsors.  The Committee agreed to invite the Finance Director to their next meeting to go over the procedures for accepting money.  
	5. OLD BUSINESS
	A) Restriping Project – Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director
	Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, reported that in 2012 the City had a joint project through the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) to have a consultant look at State Road 60 (Twin Pairs) through the downtown area where there are traffic issues.  The report showed the need to have one (1) lane eliminated from both sides of the Twin Pairs.  Staff was instructed by the City Council to move forward with an application to the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) requesting this.  He is in the process of working on those documents now and is getting ready to submit them.  The next step would be to look at when the most advantageous time would be to have this done.  He feels that it should be when the roads are scheduled to be resurfaced.  The whole project will cost close to one million dollars.  However, if they incorporate this request with the resurfacing project being done by FDOT then the City’s cost would only be $400,000, as opposed to $800,000.  He has asked FDOT when they expected this work to be done and has been told between five (5) and seven (7) years.  He keeps watching for the project to come up on the MPO level, but has not seen it yet.  Once it is scheduled he will let everyone know.  He expressed that the $400,000 for this project has not been budgeted yet.  He said once they know for sure that the project is going to take place then they will budget for it.  He reiterated this would be for elimination of one (1) lane going eastbound and one (1) lane going westbound.  It would be from the railroad crossing to 20th Avenue.   An aerial of this area was shown to the Commission members.
	Mrs. Hawkins noted that when looking through the MPO Comprehensive Plan that it looked like the resurfacing project was a long range planning project many years down the road.
	Mr. Falls explained what she probably was looking at was a maintenance project in the Comprehensive Plan, which is different from a repaving project.  
	Mr. Torres asked if it would be possible to have parking lanes along US Highway 1 up to the railroad tracks.  Mr. Falls explained if a study was done on that it would cost around $100,000.
	Mr. Falls said that the present study shows that the evacuation route will be fine and the growth rate would accommodate the elimination of one lane.
	Mr. Torres went back to having a new study done and asked if the MPO would participate with them in doing this.  He said they would be looking at getting that whole section done.  He said there is a great need for parking between US Highway 1 and the railroad tracks.  He said there is no way to add additional parking spaces to the properties that are there now and adding on street parking would be a great benefit to the businesses in that district.
	Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director, commented that he is looking at ways to allow mixed-use properties in this area.  He said the way that their Ordinance is written now makes it difficult.  
	Mr. Torres asked what it would take to get moving on this study.
	Mr. Falls said that this Committee would need to make a recommendation to the City Council to see if they agree that a study needs to be done.  If Council agrees, then they will see if they could get another study funded through the MPO like the last one was.  
	Mr. McGarry expressed that the MPO only has so much money available.  He didn’t know what kind of support they would receive from the MPO.
	Mr. Torres made a motion that this Committee recommends to City Council and to the Public Works Department to proceed with a study on the section of State Road 60 between US Highway 1 and the railroad tracks to determine whether or not it is feasible to do a lane reduction in this area as well.  Mr. Williams seconded the motion. 
	Mr. Falls suggested that the motion be sent only to the City Council.  Mr. Torres was fine with that.
	Mrs. Hawkins had some concerns that there would be a bottleneck at the tracks with the new brewery going in.  She said that might create some issues.
	Mr. Rooney brought up speed limit reduction.  He asked since restriping is not feasible at this moment, what can they do to have the speed reduced in this area.
	Mr. Falls said they needed to request that a speed study be done from FDOT.  He said FDOT will come out and see what the speed of the road is now, how it is being traveled today and they will make their recommendations based on what they find.  He will request that they do this.  The Commission agreed that FDOT should look at the area between US Highway 1 to 20th Avenue.
	Mrs. Hawkins brought up the timing for pedestrian crosswalks.  She asked Mr. Chris Mora, Indian River County Engineer, if the timing could be changed allowing more time for someone walking across the street, but he was not real responsive.
	Mr. Falls said that he would contact the person that has taken Mr. Mora’s place at the County and request that additional time be given at the crosswalk intersection.  He said if they still do not get a positive response then they could take it to the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC).
	Mrs. Hawkins commented that only an addition of three (3) to five (5) seconds would be needed.  She brought up the crosswalk at Miracle Mile and said the timing there was fine.
	The motion passed unanimously.
	B) Comprehensive Plan – Mr. Tim McGarry, Planning and Development Director
	Mr. McGarry reported that he has been working on updating the Comprehensive Plan and one (1) of the major areas that he is focusing on is the land use element and the downtown area.  He said that this Committee will be the focal point for redevelopment in this district.  An annual update of the Economic Development plan will be a part of the Comprehensive Plan.  The Committee will also be working with other organizations, such as the Cultural Arts Village and Main Street Vero Beach in coordinating these things.  He explained the Comprehensive Plan is required by the State of Florida and oversees everything when it comes to land development regulations.  He asked the Clerk to send an updated section of this part of the Comprehensive Plan to the Committee members.  He said if they have any suggestions or questions to please give him a call.  His goal is to get the Comprehensive Plan sent to the State by the end of this year. 
	C) Update on the Metropolitan Planning Organization meeting – Mrs. Jessica Hawkins, Chair
	This item was discussed earlier in the meeting.
	Mrs. Hawkins asked Mrs. Jones to go over the new lighting that they are looking at for downtown.
	Mrs. Elaine Jones, Executive Director for Main Street, explained that Main Street is working with the Charter School to put LED lighting in some of the trees downtown. She said that the lighting would be professionally installed and removed three (3) months out of the year for maintenance. 
	Mrs. Suzy Feeney stated that she had a sample of the light that is going to be used in her car and would go and get it so that the Committee can see for themselves how it works. 
	Mr. Falls added that this project is being done along with the City.  The City has some money that they set aside for Christmas lighting and this year the lighting downtown will be different from what it has been in the past at the request of Main Street. 
	Mrs. Jones said that the Charter School students will be putting lights on the light poles downtown.  So there will be additional lighting downtown other than just the LED lighting that will be in some of the trees.
	Mr. Torres complimented Mrs. Jones on what a fine job she has done since she took the position as the Executive Director of Main Street.
	Mrs. Jones reported on the new trolley that will be used to transport people visiting downtown for different events, such as the Art Stroll, etc. 
	7. NEXT MEETING DATE
	The next meeting date for the Economic Development Zone Committee is scheduled for October 17, 2016.
	8. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s meeting adjourned at 10:44 a.m.
	/tv


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


